A belated happy birthday
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Liberty by night, 1918. (Library of
Congress photo)
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Carrying a torch for Lady Liberty

by Rebecca C. Robbins

Although the gala 100th birthday
celebration was held on 4 July 1986,
the actual centennial of the dedication
of the Statue of Liberty was 28
October. Much has been written about
Lady Liberty in connection with these
events and her recent renovations.
Less well-known is the part played by
the Army and, in particular, the
Signal Corps, which was responsible
for the care and lighting of the statue
during several years early in this
century.

The Army’s connection began with
the choice of the statue’s location.
When its creator, the French sculptor
Frederic Auguste Bartholdi, visited
the United States in 1871, he selected
Bedloe’s Island, located along the
approach to New York Harbor.
Because of the island’s strategic
position, Fort Wood had been built
there in the early nineteenth century
as part of the harbor defenses. In
1877 a congressional resolution
authorized the President to accept the
statue as a gift from France, and Gen.
William T. Sherman, of Civil War
fame and then the Commanding
General of the Army, was designated
to officially determine the site.
Apparently aware of Bartholdi’s
preference, he chose Bedloe’s Island. 2
0ld Fort Wood, in the shape of an
eleven-pointed star, became the base
from which the statue’s pedestal rose.

The Army’s influence continued
during the building of the pedestal
and the statue’s reassembly after
being shipped from France in over
two hundred crates. The supervisor of
the project was Brig. Gen. Charles P.
Stone, a military engineer and a
graduate of West Point.” After the
statue’s completion and the
dedication ceremonies on 28 October
1886, an Army unit was stationed on
the island to guard the colossus.

While it may seem hard to believe
today, the statue was originally
intended to serve as a lighthouse. (Her
full title is “Liberty Enlightening the
World.”) Gen. Stone made plans for
the initial lighting system after
consulting with several electrical
companies. The American Electric
Manufacturing Company of New
York, which donated the equipment,
placed electric lamps in the torch4as
well as in the salients of the fort.
Although the sculptor had left a hole

in the top of the torch from which
light could escape, two rows of
circular holes were cut in the sides of
the flame for better visibility. The
work was hastily completed in about
a month, and the electric plant was
ready for operation on the night of the
dedication. However, bad weather
postponed the display of the lighting
until 1 November. The plant was
operated without charge to the
government through the night of 6
November after which, Congress
having made no provisions for
permanently lighting the statue, the
Lady was left in the dark.”

Ten days later, President Grover
Cleveland transferred custody of the
statue to the Light-House Board, a
division of the Treasury Department.
The War Department, however,
controlled Bedloe’s Island except for
the small portion set aside for the
board. Although Liberty’s lights were
relit under the board’s supervision,
the effect was less than satisfactory
due to the primitive state of electrical
technology at the time. Today we are
familiar with the Lady clad in a soft,
green patina, but in her youth her
dark, copper color absorbed light,
presenting a difficult lighting
problem. Bartholdi suggested that the
statue be gilded, but the engineer in
charge of the lighting considered such
a solution 1mpract1cal as well as too
expensive. Congress eventually
appropriated money for lighting
purposes, and in 1890 the Light-House
Board placed in operation a new
electric plant for illuminating the
interior of the statue and its pedestal.’
In 1892 the board oversaw further
improvements in the lighting of the
torch to include the replacement of the
circular windows with a band of plate
glass. At the same time, lights were
also added to the crown. Covered with
globes of red, white, and blue, they
were intended to resemble crown
jewels of rubies, diamonds, and
sapphires. Despite these efforts, Lady
Liberty remained little more than a
glimmer in the harbor.

By 1901 the Treasury Department
was ready to relinquish control of the
statue, and the Secretary of the
Treasury suggested to the Secretary o
War that the War Department assume
custody. Upon Secretary of War Elihu
Root’s recommendation, President
Theodore Roosevelt signed an
executive order on 30, I)ecember 1901
effecting the change.” The War
Department, which had increased its
presence on Bedloe’s Island after
making Fort Wood a recruiting
station in 1899, assigned
responsibility for the statue to the
Quartermaster Department. Civilians
continued to operate the lighting
plant but as employees of that
department

Meanwhile, events were taking
place that would eventually bring the
Signal Corps to Fort Wood. The War
with Spain had brought the Corps
many new duties, including the
operation and maintenance of
telephone and telegraph lines in the
former Spanish colonies of Cuba,
Puerto Rico, and the Philippines. In
1900, while the Corps was still
operating nearly 900 miles of military
telegraph lines in the northwest and
southwest, it took the additional task
of constructing the Alaska
communications system. Yet another
major mission was the installation of
electrical fire control systems for
seacoast artillery. The Signal Corps
needed adequate depot facilities for
handling the large amounts of
equipment involved in these
operations, and Bedloe’s Island
provided a suitable location due to its
proximity to New York City, where
the Corps purchased many of its
needed electrical appliances. When
the War Department offered Fort
Wood to the Signal Corps, the chief
Signal officer, Brig. Gen. Adolphus W.
Greely, accepted, and on 25 February
1904, Company G, Signal Corps,
moved there from Fort Trumbull,
Connecticut.' Capt. George C.
Burnell commanded the company and
also assumed _the position of post
commander.’ Aiong with the duties
of setting up a supply depot,
Company G acquired responsibility
for the care and lighting of the Statue
of Liberty."
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Because of the Corps’ experience
with electrical work, the assignment
of the lighting to Company G made
sense. By July 1904, members of the
company had replaced the civilian
electrical engrilrleers.h1 But the
condition of the power plant was far
from ideal. Herbert J. Brees, a Signal
Corps lieutenant and post
quartermaster, inspected it and
declared that it was in “a very
precarious condition and . . . liable to
break down at any moment.” He
stressed the need for a duplicate plant
in case of a breakdown.
Additionally, the Lady herself needed
major repairs, and Fort Wood required
considerable construction, including
officers’ quarters, barracks, a
hospital, and storehouses, to make it a
suitable location for Company G
Because of the lack of space,
Company G stored cables, telegraph
poles, and other types of equipment in
the moat that ran in back of the
statue. Certainly that could not have
presented a very pleasing sight for
visitors to the island! The Signal
Corps also established a school for
enlisted men at Fort Wood for which
adequate facilities were a necessity.

In 1906 Congress appropriated
$62,800 to light the statue and make
other necessary repairs, and
construction cgntinued over the next
several years. In addition to the new
buildings mentioned above, other
major improvements included the
installation of an elevator in the
pedestal, repairs to the inside of the
statue and pedestal, landscaping of
the grounds (which included filling in
the moat), and the strﬁngthening of
the light in the torch. = The Signal
Corps added a wireless station to the
post, and its transmission tower,
while offering no competition to the
statue for attention, was nonetheless
a symbol of the new technological
age.

During the period of World War I,
Company G continued to maintain
the statue as part of its regular
garrison duties. A major event of
those years was the flight over the
statue by the Wright Brothers in
October 1909 following their
successful testing of the first military
airplane at Fort Myer, Virginia, that
summer. The Army purchased this
plane, built according to
gpecifications issued by the Signal
Corps, and it became the genesis of
today’s Air Force.
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ABOVE: Fort Wood, circa 1926. Ellis Island can be seen to the‘ upper left.

(National Archieves photo) LEFT: Liberty emerges from the smoke of an artillery
salute welcoming president Grover Cleveland to the dedication ceremonies, 28

October 1886. (Library of Congress photo)

With the outbreak of World War Iin
Europe, the nation’s years of peace
were coming to an end. In July 1916,
nine months before America entered
the conflict, German saboteurs
bombed a munitions depot at Black
Tom Island in New Jersey, just across
the harbor from Bedloe’s Island.
While several buildings on the post
sustained severe damage, the §tatue
emerged virtually unscathed.”

The patriotic enthusiasm aroused
by the nation’s entry into the war
gave rise to a campaign by the New
York World to raise funds to upgrade
the statue’s lighting, which, despite
the improvemen&{s}-} over the years, was
still inadequate.” The World raised
thirty thousand dollars, and Gutzon
Borglum, later the sculptor of Mount
Rushmore, undertook the task of
redesigning the torch. He did so by
inserting 600 pieces of tinted yellow
glass to create a more flame-like
effect. The General Electric Company
also installed a permgnent
floodlighting system.

In the post World War I era, the
care of the statue passed from the
hands of the Signal Corps and,
furthermore, from the custody of the
War Department. With the postwar
reduction of the Army, the Signal
Corps depot at Fort Wood was closed,
and an infantry company and
military police troops thereafter
garrisoned the post.” A major shift
away from military control came in

1926 when the statue was placed
under the administration of a civilian
body, with the post commander
retaining overall supervision. The
War Department’s guardianship of
Lady Liberty came to an end in 1933
when President Franklin D. Roosevelt
transferQr,?d her to the National Park
Service.” Fort Wood remained an
Army post until the War Department
declared it abandoned in 1937 and
turned the remainder of Bedloe’s
Island over to the Park Service.

In preparation for her 100th
birthday, the statue has undergone
extensive renovations costing
millions of dollars. Among the major
undertakings was the installation of a
new torch, crafted by a team of
French workers to replicate the
original sculpted by Bartholdi. The
new copper flame is gilded as -
Bartholdi had once suggested.” For a
century, Liberty’s lamp has been a
beacon of freedom. Once lit by
Company G, it has even further
significance for today’s Signal
soldiers. These men and women, like
the Lady herself, proudly carry a
torch as part of their branch insignia.
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